

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Trends in Analytical Chemistry



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/trac

# Natural designer solvents for greening analytical chemistry

CrossMark

Magdalena Espino, María de los Ángeles Fernández, Federico J.V. Gomez, María Fernanda Silva \*

Instituto de Biología Agrícola de Mendoza (IBAM-CONICET), Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

# ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Natural deep eutectic solvents Green analytical chemistry Sample preparation Detection enhancement Green solvents

# ABSTRACT

Developing new green solvents is one of the key subjects in Green Chemistry. Ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents were discovered as an option to replace organic solvents. However, ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents (DES) have still some limitations to be applied to real chemical industry. In this sense, a new generation of designer solvents have emerged in the last decade as promising green media. When the compounds that constitute DES are primary metabolites, namely, aminoacids, organic acids, sugars, or choline derivatives, DES are called Natural Deep Eutectic Solvents (NADES). NADES fully represent green chemistry principles. These solvents offer many striking advantages including biodegradability, low toxicity, solute stabilization, sustainability, low costs and simple preparation. Thus, interesting applications in health-related areas can be proposed. This review presents an overview in order to up-to-date knowledge regarding NADES with special emphasis on their analytical applications and further perspectives as truly green solvents.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	126				
2.	NADES preparation	127				
3.	The structure of NADES	127				
4.	Analytical applications	128				
	4.1. Sample preparation	128				
	4.1.1. Solvent talents	128				
	4.1.2. Green organic reaction media	134				
	4.2. Detection	134				
	4.2.1. Electrochemical applications	134				
5.	Conclusions and future perspectives	134				
	Acknowledgements	135				
	Uncited references					
	References	135				

# 1. Introduction

Developing sustainable solvents is perhaps the most active area of Green Chemistry. This represent an important challenge because the use of them often represent for the vast majority of mass wasted in syntheses and processes [1]. In this context, finding green solvents as replacements for nongreen ones became a prior target. In fact, several principles of green chemistry and green analytical chemistry directly or indirectly refer to this problematic issue [2]. The implementation of solvent-free processes would be ideal; however, they are almost unavoidable due to their crucial role in dissolving solids, mass and heat transfer, influencing viscosity and in separation and purification steps. Accordingly, two main strategies for green solvent development have been proposed: the substitution of solvents derived from petroleum with others obtained from renewable resources, and the substitution of hazardous solvents with ones that show better environmental, health and safety properties [3,4].

Over the past two decades, ionic liquids (ILs) have gained much attention from the scientific community, and the number of reported articles in the literature has grown exponentially. Nevertheless, ILs "greenness" is often challenged, mainly due to their poor

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +54 2614135000. E-mail address: msilva@fca.uncu.edu.ar (M.F. Silva).



**Fig. 1.** Number of publications using the keywords *deep eutectic solvents* and *natural deep eutectic solvents* in the past five years (source www.scopus.com; date of search: 09.10.15).

biodegradability, biocompatibility, and sustainability [5]. In 2003 Abbott and co-workers [6] introduced a new type of solvents, called Deep Eutectic Solvents (DES). The mixture was formed by urea and choline chloride, both solid starting materials with high melting points. These mixtures form a eutectic system with a wide liquid range and interesting properties to be used as a solvent. Hydrogen bonding and Van der Walls interactions are the main driving force of this phenomenon. The study on hydrogen-bond (HBD) donoracceptor (HBA) combinations enables tailoring the chemical nature, physical properties, and phase behavior of this new family of designer solvents [7]. When the compounds that formed DES are abundant cellular constituents such as sugars, alcohols, amino acids, organic acids, and choline derivatives, they are called Natural Deep Eutectic Solvents (NADES).

NADES fully represent green chemistry principles. This term was postulated by Choi et al. [8] considering that in living organisms there is an alternative medium to water and lipids. If there were only this two mediums it would be difficult to explain a great number of biological processes that occur in all organisms, such as biosynthesis of poorly water soluble metabolites and macromolecules in the aqueous environment of cells, also survival of organisms in extreme drought and cold conditions.

As this is a recent growing area of research contrasting information could be found. In this sense DESs are also known as lowtransition-temperature mixtures (LTTMs) [9]. Moreover, as the definition of NADES is novel, it is possible to find reported mixtures described as DES which fits in the definition of NADES. Their recent appearance is reflected in the search of the term NADES comparing with DES (Fig. 1).

This review presents an overview in order to up-to-date knowledge regarding NADES and clarify the classification of this solvents with special emphasis on their analytical applications and further perspectives as truly green solvents.

# 2. NADES preparation

A major advantage of NADES is the facility to prepare these solvents and the large number of combinations that could be made (around 10<sup>6</sup>) [7]. Considering this, the possibilities that arise from

the ability of tailor-made new solvents with the most adequate properties for a given application are outsize [5].

There are three methods which are most commonly used for preparing NADES:

- a) *heating and stirring method* described by Dai et al. [10]: the two-component mixture with calculated amounts of water is placed in a bottle with a stirring bar and cap and heated in a water bath below 50°C with agitation till a clear liquid is formed (about 30–90 min) [10–13] or, following the conditions used by Abbot and co workers 2003 [6], heating and stirring at 80°C [11,14,15];
- b) evaporating method described by Dai et al. [10]: components are dissolved in water and evaporated at 50°C with a rotatory evaporator. The liquid obtained is put in a desiccator with silica gel till they reach a constant weight;
- c) freeze drying method described by Gutierrez et al. based on the freeze-drying of aqueous solutions of the individual counterparts [16]. However, it is not used as frequent as the others. These three methods are used in different works with suitable modifications (time of heating, temperature, etc.) according to the nature of the compounds.

Taking into account that NADES could be found in nature, the multiple component mixtures described are formed by metabolites that are naturally present in all types of cells and organisms [10]. The common components of NADES are sugars (glucose, sacarose, fructose, etc.); organic acids (lactic, malic, citric acids, etc.); urea and choline choride (Fig. 2).

Different combinations of NADES reported as stable liquids were classified, in four groups: Derivatives from organic acids, Derivate from choline chloride, Mixtures of sugars and others combinations (Table 1). The major mixtures are made of choline chloride with differents metabolites, being the combination with Lactic Acid the most studied in different molar ratio (1:1;1:2;1:3;1:4;1:5;1:9;2:1 and 3:1) and extraction of phenols and flavonoids their principal applications. Choline chloride is an essential nutrient, it is also known to be nontoxic and biodegradable and former of vitamin B4 [17,18].

# 3. The structure of NADES

The nature of the interactions that take place in the eutectic behavior depends on the type of the components where hydrogen bonds or Van der Waals forces are involved. Different techniques have been used to explore the structure of NADES. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, Crystallographic data, Fast Atom Bombardment-Mass Spectrometry (FAB)-MS and Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR) have been used [7,10,11].

As an example, the study of the mixture proline:malic acid suggested that the proper ratio to form an adequate eutectic mixture is 1:1 [11]. All the research up to date showed an extensive hydrogenbonding network between the components of NADES [11,16]. Moreover, in some mixtures, such as different sugars with choline chloride, water can be present as part of the solvent. This water is strongly retained in the liquid and cannot be evaporated [8].

Even though NADES could be prepared by different methods, studies of <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra showed the same chemical profile for NADES with the same composition [16]. The number of HBD or HBA, the spatial structure of those groups and the position of the bonds appeared to have significantly influence on the formation and stability of NADES [10]. The strength of the hydrogen bonds can be correlated with the phase-transition temperature, stability, and solvent properties of the respective mixture. In general, the higher the hydrogen-bonding ability of the counterparts, the deeper the decrease in the freezing point [16].



Fig. 2. Common components of NADES.

The supermolecular structure of NADES changes after dilution with water because a progressive rupture of the hydrogen bonding; physicochemical properties such as viscosity, conductivity, density, water activity, and polarity vary to some extent depending on chemical nature of the components [11].

#### 4. Analytical applications

Achieving the general aims and objectives of Analytical chemistry in today's changing world requires producing tangible (reagents, sorbents, solvents, instruments, analyzers) and intangible means (strategies, calibration procedures, advances in basic science) to facilitate the development of new analytical methods or improvement of existing ones [26]. In this sense, analytical chemistry is the science that goes "one-step-ahead", producing "revolutionary" applications in order to contribute to "evolutionary" advances in Science and Technology in areas such as health, industry and environment.

NADES offer endless opportunities at method development, with enhancement perspectives at different steps and sub-steps of the Entire Analytical Process. They can be applied in different research fields, particularly as solvents for extraction and synthesis, biocatalysis, gas separations, materials science and electrochemistry. NADES are truly designer solvents that can be utilized as sustainable and safe extraction media. In the biomedical or pharmaceutical field, the possibility to prepare drug delivery systems was reported by Scott and coworkers who described the preparation of a bioactive eutectic system [13].

A deeper understanding of the chemical structures and physical properties of NADES, the intermolecular interactions between NADES and target analytes, and their efficiency and selectivity are necessary. Studies about their ability to solubilize and stabilize biomolecules provide the basis for the developing of tailor-made NADES for specific applications. In order to gain more insight into the solubilizing mechanism of NADES, Dai et al. [10] studied by highresolution magic angle spinning (HR-MAS) NMR a saturated solution of quercetin in Xilitol-Choline chloride-Water. Cross peaks between quercetin and NADES were observed in the HR-MAS-NOESY spectrum indicating that the interaction forces, might result from hydrogen bonding between NADES molecules and solutes, providing an explanation of the high solubilizing capacity of NADES. However, the authors have not presented any graphical information. Much is still unknown about the structure and interaction of NADES with target analytes, and this is definitely an interesting topic to explore in order to unravel these questions.

#### 4.1. Sample preparation

#### 4.1.1. Solvent talents

NADES skills as green smart solvents together with their capacity as stabilization agents, offer interesting perspectives for sample preparation, including extraction, synthesis, dilution and/or preconcentration. They show appropriated physicochemical properties as solvents: negligible volatility, liquid state even far below 0°C, adjustable viscosity, sustainability, biodegradability combined with acceptable toxicity profiles, and high solubilization power of both polar and non-polar compounds [12,27]. All those properties imply their great potential in the extraction of valuable secondary metabolites of plants for their direct application in pharmaceutical, cosmetics and food industries [3,8].

There is limited information concerning NADES toxicity. Paiva et al. [5] tested the cytotoxicity of 11 different NADES. However, the analysis of the results obtained does not indicate a clear trend concerning the cytotoxic effect and the constituents of the NADES. In this work, the authors conclude that the viability depends on the concentration. Hayyan et al. [28] studied the toxicity and cytotoxicity of choline chloride (ChCl) based DESs with four hydrogen bond donors including glycerine, ethylene glycol, triethylene glycol and urea. It was found that there was no toxic effect for the tested DESs. DESs are expected to serve as selective chemicals which may have the potential to be destructive for certain types of cells, e.g. any abnormal cells (tumor cells) and non-destructive for other cells.

NADES show high solubilization ability of both non-polar and polar compounds, and some metabolites are significantly more soluble in NADES than in water [27]. The solubility of poorly soluble molecules such as benzoic acid, griseo-fulvin, danazol, and itraconazole was reported to be 5 to 22,000 times higher in NADES composed by a mixture of choline choride:urea and choline choride:malonic acid, than in water [5]. NADES have been reported for the dissolution of carbohydrates and ionic metal oxides [29]. The dilution of NADES changes their polarity affecting the solubilization capacity. This solubility is also correlated with the solutes' polarity. Nonpolar compounds have the highest solubility in pure NADES, while a 5-10 v% of water dilution allows the highest solubility of medium polar compounds [10]. The ability of NADES formed by a mixture of carboxylic acids and trimethylglicine to solubilize L-amino acids was evaluated. The amino acids with an aromatic portion in their structures (phenylalanine, tryptophan and tyrosine) showed higher solubility in NADES than in water [21].

# Table 1

Mixtures of compounds reported as stable liquids forming NADES

Composition of NADES	Molar ratio	Dilution (% v/v)	Application	Method of preparation	Ref.
Derivatives from Organic Acids	1.1	25.50.75	stabilization ability for share lis	heating and stiming at 50°C	[12]
mane acid:pronne	111	20;00;75	compounds	nearing and surfing at 50 C	[12]
	1 <sup>a</sup> :1 <sup>b,c</sup>		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
	n.s		analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with stirring at 70°C	[11]
DL-malic acid:L-serine	2:3/1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
DL-malic acid:β-alanine	2:3/1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
malic acid:sucrose	1:1		preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[10]
	1 <sup>a</sup> :1/2 <sup>a</sup> :1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
malic acid:fructose	1:1		preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
malic acid:glucose	1:1		measurements		
DL-malic acid:D-mannose	1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
DL-malic acid:D (+)trenaiose	2:1 2·1/1·1				
DL-malic acid:betaine	1:1				1103
		30	flavonoid extractions from Flos	freeze-drying	[19]
DL-malic acid:D-sorbitol	1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
DL-malic acid:D(+)glucose:D(-)fructose	1:1:1				
DL-malic acid:D(+)glucose:glycerol	1:1:1				
DL-malic acid:sucrose:glycerol	1:1:2				
DL-malic acid:betaine:D(+)glucose	1:1:1 1:1:1				
malic acid:proline:water	1:1:3	0-100	analysis of physicochemical	heating with agitation in a water	[11]
*			properties	bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	
			physical properties of NADES	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
malic acid:β:alanine:water	1:1:3		analysis of physicochemical	heating with agitation in a water	[11]
			properties	Dath at 50 C <sup>4</sup> beating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
maleic acid:glucose	4:1		preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
maleic acid:sucrose	1:1		measurements		[8]
L (+)tartaric acid:betaine	1:2		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
tartaric acid:glucose	1:1	7,5	use as polymers plasticizing agents	vacuum evaporating at 50°C <sup>1</sup>	[13]
actic acid sucrose	1.2	20	normation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating beating and stirring at 80°C	[10]
	1.2	20	cajan leaves	licating and stirring at 50 C	[14]
			flavonoid extraction from Radix	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
lactic acid:glucose	1:2	20	phenolic extraction from Cajanus	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
			cajan leaves		
	5:1		stabilisation ability for phenolic	heating and stirring at 50°C	[12]
	5·1d		compounds	vacuum ovaporating	[10]
lactic acid:β-alanine	1:1		ionnation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
lactic acid:betaine	2:1/5:1	5;10;15;20;50	pretreatment of lignocellulosic	shaking water bath at 60°C	[20]
			biomass rice straw	100 rpm	[40]
lactic acid:D/L-proline	1:1 5:1:3	0_100	formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
actic aciu.giucose.watei	5.1.5	0-100	properties	bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[11]
			physical properties of NADES;	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
			solubility of small molecules and		
citric acid sucroso	1.1	64	macromolecules	vacuum ovaporating at 50°C	[12]
	1.1	0,4	formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating at 50 C	[15]
			preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
			measurements		
	1:2	20	phenolic extraction from Cajanus	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
			cajan leaves	heating and stiming at 20°C	[15]
			Scutellariae	heating and stirring at 80 C	[15]
citric acid:glucose	1:1	8.2	use as polymers plasticizing agents	vacuum evaporating at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[13]
-	1:1 <sup>d</sup>		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
		30	flavonoid extractions from Flos	freeze-drying	[19]
	1.0	20	sophorae	boating and stirring at 20°C	[1.4]
	1:2	20	phenone extraction from Cajanus caian leaves	nearing and surfing at 80 C	[14]
			flavonoid extraction from Radix	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
			Scutellariae		. 1
	2:1		preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
			measurements		

(continued on next page)

# Table 1 (continued)

chine add/D, functione     1:1     farmation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       chine add/matrices     2:1     preparation of NADES and NMB     receard matrixed     [8]       chine add/matrixes     2:1     preparation of NADES and NMB     receard matrixed     [8]       chine add/matrixes     2:1     preparation of NADES and NMB     receard matrixed     [8]       chine add/matrixes     2:1     preparation of NADES and NMB     receard matrixed     [8]       chine add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       chine add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       chine add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       chine add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       chine add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       chine add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       dirit add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10]       first add/matrixes     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum exaporating     [10] </th <th>Composition of NADES</th> <th>Molar ratio</th> <th>Dilution (% v/v)</th> <th>Application</th> <th>Method of preparation</th> <th>Ref.</th>	Composition of NADES	Molar ratio	Dilution (% v/v)	Application	Method of preparation	Ref.
ciric additionations     1:1       ciric additionations     2:1       ciric additionations     1:1       ciric additionations     2:1       ciric additionations     2:1       ciric additionations     2:1       ciric additionations     2:1       ciric additionations     1:1       ciric additionations     1:1 <td>citric acid:D(-)fructose</td> <td>1:1</td> <td></td> <td>formation and stability of NADES</td> <td>vacuum evaporating</td> <td>[10]</td>	citric acid:D(-)fructose	1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	citric acid:D-mannose	1:1				
citic additations         3-1         accume exaporating insert of the solution of sability of NADES in an Assolution of NADES in a solution exaporating insert of NADES in a NADE insert of NADES in NADE insert of NADES in	citric acid:maltose	2:1				
chrin add:rchalose         2:1         formation and stability of MADES         vacuum responsing         [8]           chric add:adonitol         1:1         30         forward inder choines         forward inder choines         forward inder choines         [10]           chric add:adonitol         1:1         30         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:adonitol         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:adonitol         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:adonitol         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:adonitol         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:balanie         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:balanie         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:balanie         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           chris add:balanie         1:1         forward inder choines         wacuum responsing         [10]           fuctors straichbalanie         1:	citric acid:raffinose	3:1				
2:1     proparation of NODES and MAR     free-order (meaning)     [8]       criric acid:adonited     1:1     Jo     proparation of NODES and MAR     freeze-driving     [19]       criric acid:point     1:1     freeze-driving     [10]     [10]       criric acid:point     1:1     freeze-driving     [10]       criric acid:point     1:1     proparation of NODES and NMR     freeze-driving     [10]       criric acid:point     1:1     proparation of NODES and NMR     freeze-driving     [10]       criric acid:plainte     1:1     proparation of NODES and NMR     freeze-driving     [10]       criric acid:plainte     1:1     proparation of NODES and NMR     freeze-driving     [10]       criric acid:plainte     1:1     proparation of NODES and NMR     freeze-driving     [10]       glucati: acid:betaine     1:1     proparation of the solubility of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       glucase: succese     1:1     properties     manation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       glucase: succese     1:1     properties     manation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       glucase: succese     1:1     properties     manation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride	citric acid:trehalose	2:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	
tiric acid adonitol 1:1 30 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10		2:1		preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c } \mbox{characterization and stability of NADEs} & box (box (box (b))) & box (b)) & box (b)) & box (b) & box (b$				measurements		[10]
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	citric acid:adonitol	1:1	20	formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
ticit acid b sorbiol inter acid public inter ac			30	flavonoid extractions from Flos	freeze-drying	[19]
christ and 2-solution       1:1       initiation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         christ and 2-solution       1:1       initiation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         christ and 2-solution       1:1/1.2       preparation of NADES and NAR       freeze-dried       [8]         christ and 2-solution       1:1       preparation of NADES and NAR       freeze-dried       [8]         christ and 2-solution       2:1       amino acids       measurements       vacuum evaporating       [10]         divisit and 2-solution       2:1       amino acids       measurements       vacuum evaporating       [10]         divisit and 2-solution       2:1       amino acids       measurements       [10]       measurements       [10]         divisos: success       1:1       freeze-dried       [8]       [8]       measurements       [10]         divisos: success: succ	station of de Done de Maria	1.1		sophorae		[10]
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c } \mbox{currer} a distribution & 1:1 \\ \mbox{currer} a distribution $	citric acid:D-sorbitol	1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	citric acid;xyiitoi	1,1				
Current and product     11/12/1     measurements     freeze-dried     [8]       Current acid behavior     1:1     measurements     recurrents     [10]       Current acid behavior     1:1     measurements     recurrents     [10]       Current acid behavior     2:1     evaluation of the solubility of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       Current acid behavior     2:1     amino acids     mixing at 90°C     [21]       Matter of Sugars     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       Matter of Sugars     1:1     preparation of NADES and NMR     recea-dried     [8]       placese: nucrose     1:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       placese: nucrose     1:1     measurements     [8]       glacese: nucrose     1:1:1     measurements     [8]       glacese: nucrose     1:1:1     measurements     [10]       placese: nucrose     1:1:1     measurements     [10]       placese: nucrose     1:1:1     measurements     vacuum evaporating     [10]       placese: nucrose     2:1:1:1     measurements     vacuum evaporating     [10]       placese: nucrose     2:1:1:1     measurements     vacuum evaporating     [10]	citric acid:proline	1.1 1.1 <sup>b</sup> /1.2 <sup>b</sup> /1.	3p			
citric acid planine         if a list is not with with its in a fractional stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           glucolic acid betaine         2:1         evaluation of the solubility of MADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           glucolic acid betaine         2:1         evaluation of the solubility of MADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           oxalic acid betaine         2:1         evaluation of the solubility of MADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           matter acid Statine CDC glucose         1:1         preparition of MADES is an NMR         freeze-dried         [10]           glucose: acrose glucose: functose         1:1         preparition of MADES is an NMR         freeze-dried         [11]           glucose: acrose glucose: functose         1:1         measurements         [11]         measurements         [11]           glucose: functose         1:1:1         analysis of physical properties         [12]         [13]         [13]         [13]         [14]         [15]         [15]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16]         [16] <t< td=""><td>citric acid.profilie</td><td>1.1 /1.2 /1.</td><td>5</td><td>preparation of NADES and NMR</td><td>freeze-dried</td><td>[8]</td></t<>	citric acid.profilie	1.1 /1.2 /1.	5	preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1.1/1.2/		preparation of NADES and NWK	lieeze-ulleu	[0]
citits acids behave11contactor and action (or not 2.5)vacuum exponding(10)gives ficts acids betaine2:1evaluation of the solubility of amino acidsmixing at 90°C[21]gives factor betaine2:1evaluation of the solubility of amino acidsmixing at 90°C[21]oxalis acids betaine1:1:1formation and stability of NADESvacuum exponding[10]fuctors sucrose1:1proparation of NADES and NMR measurementsvacuum exponding[10]glucose: sucrose1:1proparation of NADES and NMR measurementsheating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C[10]proservices1:1madysis of physicochemical propervicesheating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C[10]Derivate from choline choiride5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum exaporating vacuum exaporating[10]choline choiride:A-1 channose5:17guest sponder solution of NADESvacuum exaporating[10]choline choiride:A-1 channose5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum exaporating[10] <tr<< td=""><td>citric acid:ß alanine</td><td>1.5</td><td></td><td>formation and stability of NADES</td><td>vacuum evaporating</td><td>[10]</td></tr<<>	citric acid:ß alanine	1.5		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
choice choice         2:1         evaluation of the solubility of mixing at 90°C         [21]           oxalic acid-betaine         2:1         amine acids         amine acids         amine acids         [10]           Matures of Sugars         1:1:1         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           Mistures of Sugars         1:1         measurements         [10]         freeze-dried         [8]           glucose:sucrose         1:1         malysis of physical properties of majors         heating with signal at 50°C         [10]           glucose:sucrose         1:1:1         analysis of physical properties of majors         heating with signal at 50°C         [10]           Derivate from choline choride         5:2         r         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating at 50°C         [11]           Derivate from choline choride: 2:1         7         use as polymers plasticizing agents         vacuum evaporating at 50°C         [13]           choline choride: 2:1/9:1 *         5.5         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating at 50°C         [14]           choline choride: 2:1/9:1 *         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating at 50°C         [15]           choline choride: 2:1/9:1 *         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evapor	citric acid:betaine	1.1		formation and stability of fwh2L3	vacuum evaporating	[10]
glycolic acid.betaine     2:1     amino acids     intermediation y or anino acids     intermediation y or anino acids       oxalia acid.betaine     2:1     amino acids     vacuum evaporating     [10]       Mixtures of Sugars     1:1     promation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       glucose:sucrose     1:1     promation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       glucose:sucrose     1:1     properties     indaysis of physicochemical     properties of     heating with agitation in a water       functose:sucrose     1:1:1     indaysis of physicochemical     properties of     heating with agitation in a water     [11]       choline chloride:Ch-Oriette     5:2     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride:Ch-Oriette     5:4     7     use so polymers plasticitang agents     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride:Ch-Oriette     5:5     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride:Cho	citile acid.betaille	2.1		evaluation of the solubility of	mixing at 90°C	[21]
oradic acidibetarine oradic acidibetarine Mixtures of Sugars         2:1         Control Control Mixtures of Sugars         2:1         Control Control Mixtures of Sugars         1:1         formation and stability of NADES preparation of NADES and NMR         vacuum evaporating freeze-dried         [10]           motion control         1:1         measurements         [11]         measurements         [11]           phonese:functose         1:1:1         analysis of physich properties of analysis of physich properties of analysis of physich properties of analysis of physich properties of NADES         heating with agitation in a water analysis of physich properties of NADES         heating with sitring at 50°C         [10]           Derivate from choline choiride choline choiride:X)-finctose         5:2         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating         [10]           choline choiride:Choiride:A: thamose         5:2         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating         [10]           choline choiride:Choiride	glycolic acid betaine	2.1		amino acids	mixing at 50 C	[21]
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	oxalic acid betaine	2.1		unino uclus		
Mixtures of Sugars11.00011.00011.00011.000furctose sucrose1.11.1preparation of NADES and NMR measurementsvacuum evaporating freeze-dried[10] freeze-driedglucose sucrose1.1measurementsintervalue[11]glucose sucrose runctose1.1.1measurementsheating with agitation in a water analysis of physical properties of analysis of physical properties of analysis of physical properties of analysis of physical properties of analysis of physical properties of 2.1.1vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating[10] freeze-driedDerivate from choline chloride choline chloride:hy_firethalose5.2formation and stability of NADES 2.1vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating at 50°C[11] vacuum evaporating at 50°C[13] vacuum evaporating at 50°C[13] vacuum evaporating at 50°C[14] runcties chloride:hor	oxalic acid:betaine:D(+)glucose	1:1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
fractose sucrose     1 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>1</sub> formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [19]       glucose: sucrose     11     measurements     [11]       glucose: sucrose     11:1     measurements     [11]       fructose: glucose: sucrose     11:1     measurements     [11]       fructose: glucose: sucrose: water     11:1     malysis of physical properties of     heating with signation in a water     [11]       properties     5:2     7     use as polymers plasticizing agents     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride: D/- iffuctose     5:2     7     use as polymers plasticizing agents     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride: D/- iffuctose     5:2     7     use as polymers plasticizing agents     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride: D/- iffuctose     5:2     7     use as polymers plasticizing agents     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride: D/- iffuctose     5:2     11     12     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride: D/- iffuctose     5:2     12     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride: Sorbore     11/12/2     0:20.40.60     phenolic extraction from Cajanus     heating and stirring at 80°C     [14]       cho	Mixtures of Sugars			formation and stability of rulb 25	racaam craporating	[10]
iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii	fructose:sucrose	1 <sup>f</sup> :1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
glucosesurcose glucosestructose       1:1       measurements       neasurements         glucosestructose       1:1       neasurements       neasurements         glucosestructose       1:1:1       nalysis of physical properties of NADES       heating with agitation in a water but at 50°C       [11]         Derivate from choline chloride       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       wacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:D/-iPfluctose       5:1       7       sea so polymers plasticizing agents       wacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:D/-iPfluctose       5:1       7       sea so polymers plasticizing agents       wacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:D/-iPfluctose       5:1       7       sea so polymers plasticizing agents       wacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:D/-iPfluctose       5:2       - <td></td> <td>1:1</td> <td></td> <td>preparation of NADES and NMR</td> <td>freeze-dried</td> <td>[8]</td>		1:1		preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
glucose:cructose glucose:sucrose:furctose glucose:sucrose:water       1:1 1:1:1       analysis of physicchemical properties analysis of physical properties of NADES       heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C       [11]         Derivate from choline chloride choline chloride:Ql=/fluctose choline chloride:Ql=/fluctose       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating at 50°C       [10]         Derivate from choline chloride choline chloride:Ql=/fluctose       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating at 50°C       [10]         Choline chloride:Ql=/fluctose       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating       [10]         Choline chloride:Ql=/fluctose       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating       [10]         Choline chloride:Ql=/fluctose       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating       [10]         Choline chloride:Dl=/fluctose       1:2       0.20.40.60       phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:sorbose       1:2       20       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:1       30       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum	glucose:sucrose	1:1		measurements		1.1
pilloces:sucrose:fuctose       1:1:1       analysis of physicolemical properties analysis of physicolemical properties of NADES       heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C in the phath at 50°C i	glucose:fructose	1:1				
Intercose:glucose:sucrose:water       1:1:1:11       analysis of physiccal properties of analysis of physiccal properties of NADES       bath at 50°C       ibit hat 50°C	glucose:sucrose:fructose	1:1:1				
Derivate from choline chloride choline chloride:D(-)fructose     5:2     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating at 50°C     [10]       Choline chloride:Softe     2:1     7     use as polymers plasticizing agents     vacuum evaporating at 50°C     [11]       Choline chloride:A-L rhamnose     2:1     5.6     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating at 50°C     [10]       Choline chloride:A-L rhamnose     2:1     5.6     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       Choline chloride:Ch-Iptrehalose     4:1     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       Choline chloride:Chor	fructose:glucose:sucrose:water	1:1:1:11		analysis of physicochemical	heating with agitation in a water	[11]
Derivate from choline chloride choline chloride.D(-)fructose     5.2 2.1 7.6 3.1 5.6 7.6 3.1 5.6     formation and stability of NADES 1.1 5.6     vacuum evaporating vacuum evapo	-			properties	bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	
berivate from choline chloride choline chloride:O(-)fructose choline chloride:Xylose 2:1 3:1 2:1 2:1 2:1 2:1 2:1 2:1 2:1 2				analysis of physical properties of	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
Derivate from choline chloride         Size         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating at 50°C         [13]           choline chloride::AL: thannose         2:1         7         use as polymers plasticizing agents         vacuum evaporating at 50°C         [13]           choline chloride::AL: thannose         2:1         Formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           choline chloride::OL/)trebalose         2:1         Formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           choline chloride::OL/)trebalose         2:1         Formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           choline chloride::OL/)trebalose         5:2         Formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           choline chloride::Maltose         5:2         Formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [11]           choline chloride::Maltose         11:2         0.20,40,60         phenolic extraction from Cajanus         heating and stirring at 80°C         [15]           choline chloride::sorbitol         1:2         20         formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating         [10]           choline chloride:glucose         3:1 <sup>1</sup> /5 <sup>1</sup> /5 <sup>20</sup> Formation and stability of NADES         vacuum evaporating at 80°C         [				NADES		
	Derivate from choline chloride					
choline chloride:xylose       2:1       7       use as polymers plasticizing agents       vacuum evaporating at 50°C°       [13]         3:1       5.6       2:18/3:18       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride::0(-)trehalose       2:1       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride::0(-)trehalose       2:1       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride::0(-)trehalose       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride::maltose       11:1       gan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30	choline chloride:D(–)fructose	5:2		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
3:1     5.6       2:18/3:18     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride:D(-)trehalose     4:1     choline chloride:D(-)trehalose     [10]       choline chloride:D(-)trehalose     5:2     choline chloride:D(-)trehalose     [11]       choline chloride:D(-)trehalose     5:2     cajan leaves     heating and stirring at 80°C     [14]       choline chloride:saftinose     11:12     cajan leaves     heating and stirring at 80°C     [15]       choline chloride:sorbitol     1:2     20     flavonoid extraction from Cajanus     heating and stirring at 80°C     [16]       choline chloride:sorbitol     1:2     20     flavonoid extraction from Cajanus     heating and stirring at 80°C     [16]       choline chloride:sorbitol     1:2     20     flavonoid extraction from Cajanus     heating and stirring at 80°C     [16]       choline chloride:sorbitol     1:2     20     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride:glucose     3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       choline chloride:glucose     1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30     flavonoid extraction from Cajanus     heating and stirring at 80°C     [14]       cajan leaves     flavonoid extraction from Radix     scutellariae     heating and st	choline chloride:xylose	2:1	7	use as polymers plasticizing agents	vacuum evaporating at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[13]
choline chloride:A-L rhamnose       2:1       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:Ch/trehalose       4:1       stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:Ch/trehalose       5:2       stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:Sorbose       5:2/1:1       stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [11]         choline chloride:sorbose       5:2       stability of NADES       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:maltose       11:2       cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       flavonoid extraction from Radix scutellariae       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:glucose       3:1 <sup>1</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1       30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus scutellariae       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         cajan leaves       flavonoid extraction from Radix scutellariae       heating and		3:1	5,6			
choline chloride:AL-thamnose       2:1         choline chloride:D(+)rehalose       4:1         choline chloride:D(+)rehalose       5:2         choline chloride:D(+)rehalose       5:2         choline chloride:D(+)rehalose       5:2         choline chloride:D(+)rehalose       5:2         choline chloride:D(+)rehalose       1:2         choline chloride:Saffinose       11:12         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/12         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/12         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/12         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/1         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:1/2         choline chloride:Saffinose       1:2         saffi/5:2 <sup>ID</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>II</sup> 30       Saffiavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C </td <td></td> <td>2:1<sup>g</sup>/3:1<sup>g</sup></td> <td></td> <td>formation and stability of NADES</td> <td>vacuum evaporating</td> <td>[10]</td>		2:1 <sup>g</sup> /3:1 <sup>g</sup>		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
choline chloride:1)+trehalose       4:1         choline chloride:1)-mannose       5:2         choline chloride:Divelgatose       5:2/1:1         choline chloride:analtose       11:2         choline chloride:analtose       11:1/1:2/       0,20,40,60       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:analtose       11:1/1:2/       0,20,40,60       phenolic extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>4</sup> 30       flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>4</sup> 30       flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>4</sup> 30       flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]	choline chloride:A-L rhamnose	2:1				
choline chloride:(J)-mannose       5:2/1:1         choline chloride:sorbose       5:2/1:1         choline chloride:raffinose       11:2         choline chloride:raffinose       11:2/1         choline chloride:raffinose       11:2/1         choline chloride:raffinose       11:2/1         choline chloride:raffinose       11:2/1         choline chloride:raffinose       11:2/2         choline chloride:raffinose       11:2/2         choline chloride:sorbitol       20         favonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2         choline chloride:glucose       3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating         cial heaves       flavonoid extraction from Radix         flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C         cial heaves       flavonoid extraction from Radix         flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C         1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30         sophorae       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus         flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C         1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus         flavonoid extraction from Radix	choline chloride:D(+)trehalose	4:1				
choline chloride: D(+)galactose choline chloride: ID(+)galactose       5:2         choline chloride: ID(+)galactose       11:2         choline chloride: ID(+)galactose       11:1/1:2/       0.20.40,60       phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         1:3/1:4       cajan leaves       1:2       20       flavonoid extraction from Radix periodic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>10</sup> 30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus compounds       heating and stirring at 80°C       [17]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>4</sup> 30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus compounds       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         cajan leaves       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus compounds       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>4</sup> 30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus compounds       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]      <	choline chloride:(D)-mannose	5:2				
choline chloride: J1:2       5:2       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         choline chloride:maltose       1:1/1:2/       0,20,40,60       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:sorbitol       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         colan leaves       1:1/4       30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1/4       30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1/4       30       flavonoid extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [16]         choline chloride:glucose       1:1/2       20       phenolic extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at	choline chloride:sorbose	5:2/1:1				
choline chloride:raliniose11.20.20,40,60phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:maltose1:1/200phenolic extraction from Cajanus Scutellariaeheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:sorbitol1:220formation and stability of NADES phenolic extraction from Cajanus phenolic extraction from Radix cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix scutellariaeheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:glucose3:1 <sup>b</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> 1:1 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES sophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanus sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose1:130flavonoid extraction from Radix cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose5:290stolinition and stability of NADESvacuum evapo	choline chloride: D(+)galactose	5;Z				
choline chloride: indice1.11/1.2/10.20-0000phenolic extraction from Calatitisineating and stirling at 80°C[14]1:3i.220flavonoid extraction from Radixheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:sorbitol1:220formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:sorbitol1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanusheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:sorbitol1:220phenolic extraction from Radixheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Rolsheating and stirring at 80°C[16]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanusheating and stirring at 80°C[16]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanusheating and stirring at 80°C[16]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30graphenolicstraction from Cajanusheating and stirring at 80°C[16]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30graphenolicstraction from Cajanusheating and stirring at 80°C[16]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30graphenolicstraction from Radixheating and stirring at 80°C[16]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30graphenolicstraction from Radixheating and stirring at 80°C[16]choline chloride:glucose5:290graphenolicheating and stirring at 50°C[1	choline chloride;rallinose	11;2	0.20.40.60	phonolic overaction from Calapus	booting and stirring at 80°C	[14]
choline chloride:sylitol choline chloride:xylitol choline chloride:xylitol choline chloride:xylitol choline chloride:ribitol 22 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	choline chioride.matose	1.1/1.2/	0,20,40,60	cian lower	heating and stirring at 80 C	[14]
1.22.0Inavoin Cataction from Radix ScutellariaeInating and stirling at 0° C[10]choline chloride:sorbitol4:1formation and stability of NADES (cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Cajanus flavonoid extraction from Radix flavonoid extraction from Radix (cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix flavonoid extraction from Radix flavonoid extraction from Radix heating and stirring at 80°C[10]choline chloride:glucose3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> 1:1 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES scutellariaevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:glucose5:290stability of phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 80°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of phenolic freeze-dryingheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:ribitol5:290stabilisation ability of phenolic formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating vacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:230formation and stability of NADES gophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES gophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES gophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]flavonoid extractions from Flos 		1.3/1.4	20	flavopoid extraction from Radix	beating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
4:1formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:sorbitol1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]cajan leavesflavonoid extraction from Radix Scutellariaeheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:glucose3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Flos sophoraefreeze-drying[10]choline chloride:glucose1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]cajan leaves1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]cajan leaves1:220phenolic extraction from Radix cajan leavesheating and stirring at 80°C[14]cajan leaves1:220phenolic extraction from Radix compoundsheating and stirring at 80°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating reze-drying[10]flavonoid extractions from Flosfreeze-drying[19]au30flavonoid extractions from Flosfreeze-drying[19]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stabil		1.2	20	Scutellariae	heating and stirring at 80 C	[15]
choline chloride:sorbitol1.1Initiation and stability of NADESVacuum evaporating at 80°C[14]choline chloride:sorbitol1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus flavonoid extraction from Radix formation and stability of NADESheating and stirring at 80°C[15]choline chloride:glucose3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanus flavonoid extraction from Cajanus sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanus sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extraction from Cajanus sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:glucose1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus sophoraeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]choline chloride:xylitol5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol4:1stabilisation ability for phenolic gondeheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[1		4.1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
choline chloride:ribitol 1:12 20 cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix heating and stirring at 80°C [15] Scuttellariae intering at 80°C [15] Scuttellariae intering at 80°C [15] Scutellariae intering at 80°C [16] scutellariae intering at 80°C [17] intering at 80°C [18] sophorae intering at 80°C [19] sophorae intering at 80°C [14] cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Cajanus heating and stirring at 80°C [14] cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix heating and stirring at 80°C [15] scutellariae intering at 80°C [15] scutellariae intering at 80°C [15] scutellariae intering at 80°C [15] scutellariae intering at 80°C [16] intering at 80°C [17] scutellariae intering at 80°C [18] sophorae intering at 80°C [19] sophorae intering at 80°C [19] sophorae [10] sophorae [10] intering at 80°C [12] intering at 80°C [12] sophorae [10] intering at 80°C [12] sophorae [10] sophorae [10] sophorae [10] intering at 80°C [12] sophorae [12] sophorae [13] sophorae [14] sophorae [15] sophorae [16] sophorae [16] sophorae [16] sophorae [	choline chloride sorbitol	1.1	20	phenolic extraction from Caianus	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
choline chloride:glucose3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating at 80°C[15] Scutellariaecholine chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extractions from Flos sophoraereze-drying[19] sophorae1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus flavonoid extraction from Radixheating and stirring at 80°C[14] cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radixheating and stirring at 80°C[15]5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12] compoundscholine chloride:xylitol5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10] freeze-dryingcholine chloride:ribitol5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12] compoundscholine chloride:ribitol5:290stabilisation ability of NADES romation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES romation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]flavonoid extractions from Flos sophoraefreeze-drying[10]flavonoid extractions from Flos sophoraefreeze-dryi			20	caian leaves	neuting and starting at 55 c	1
Scutellariae       3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       10         choline chloride:glucose       1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30       flavonoid extractions from Flos       freeze-drying       [19]         sophorae       1:2       20       phenolic extraction from Cajanus       heating and stirring at 80°C       [14]         cajan leaves       flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         Scuttellariae       5:2       90       stabilisation ability for phenolic       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       90       stabilisation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation adstability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         gan       flavonoid extractions from Flos       freeze-drying       [10]         sophorae       30       flavonoid extractions from Flos       freeze-drying       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>flavonoid extraction from Radix</td><td>heating and stirring at 80°C</td><td>[15]</td></td<>				flavonoid extraction from Radix	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup> formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:glucose1:1 <sup>d</sup> 30flavonoid extractions from Flos sophoraefreeze-drying[19]1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix scutellariaeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:2 <sup>d</sup> 90stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES sophoraevacuum evaporating formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]compounds5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES romation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES romation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]flavonoid extractions from Flos sophoraefreeze-drying[10] <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Scutellariae</td> <td></td> <td>1</td>				Scutellariae		1
choline chloride:glucose1:1d30flavonoid extractions from Flos sophoraefreeze-drying[19]1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix scutellariaeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:ribitol5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES sophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES sophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES sophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES sophoraevacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]		3:1 <sup>h</sup> /5:2 <sup>h</sup>		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
sophorae sophorae [112] 112 20 phenolic extraction from Cajanus heating and stirring at 80°C [14] cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix heating and stirring at 80°C [15] Scutellariae [12] compounds [12] choline chloride:ribitol 5:2 90 stabilisation ability for phenolic heating and stirring at 50°C [12] compounds [10] flavonoid extractions from Radix vacuum evaporating [10] flavonoid extractions from Flos freeze-drying [10] sophorae [10] formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] flavonoid extractions from Flos freeze-drying [10] sophorae [10] formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] flavonoid extractions from Flos freeze-drying [10] sophorae [10] formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] freeze-drying [10] sophorae [10]	choline chloride:glucose	1:1 <sup>d</sup>	30	flavonoid extractions from Flos	freeze-drying	[19]
1:220phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves flavonoid extraction from Radix Scutellariaeheating and stirring at 80°C[14]5:290stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:xylitol5:2d90stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:ribitol5:2d90stabilisation ability for phenolic compoundsheating and stirring at 50°C[12]choline chloride:ribitol5:2dformation and stability of NADES formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating freeze-drying[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES freeze-dryingvacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADES formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]choline chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]sophorae formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]sophoraeformation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]sophoraeformation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]sophoraeformation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporatin	C C			sophorae	5 0	
cajan leaves       flavonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         Scutellariae       5:2       90       stabilisation ability for phenolic       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         compounds       5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation ability for phenolic       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:xylitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]		1:2	20	phenolic extraction from Cajanus	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
favonoid extraction from Radix       heating and stirring at 80°C       [15]         Scutellariae       Scutellariae       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         stabilisation ability for phenolic       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         compounds       compounds       [10]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation ability for phenolic       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         compounds       compounds       [10]       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         compounds       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         stabilisation ability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         gon       flavonoid extractions from Flos       freeze-drying       [19]         sophorae       sophorae       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]				cajan leaves		
Scutellariae       Scutellariae       [12]         5:2       90       stabilisation ability for phenolic compounds       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         choline chloride:xylitol       5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating at 50°C       [10]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation ability for phenolic betation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating at 50°C       [10]         5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         30       flavonoid extractions from Flos sophorae       freeze-drying       [19]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]				flavonoid extraction from Radix	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
5:2       90       stabilisation ability for phenolic compounds       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation ability for phenolic compounds       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating at 50°C       [12]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation ability for phenolic compounds       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating for phenolic compounds       [10]         6:0       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating for phenolic compounds       [10]         6:0       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating for phenolic compounds       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]				Scutellariae		
choline chloride:xylitol 5:2 <sup>d</sup> formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] choline chloride:xylitol 4:1 stabilisation ability for phenolic compounds 5:2 formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] favonoid extractions from Flos freeze-drying [10] sophorae choline chloride:ribitol 5:2 formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] sophorae		5:2	90	stabilisation ability for phenolic	heating and stirring at 50°C	[12]
5:2d       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation ability for phenolic       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         compounds       compounds       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         30       flavonoid extractions from Flos sophorae       freeze-drying       [19]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]				compounds		
choline chloride:xylitol       4:1       stabilisation ability for phenolic compounds       heating and stirring at 50°C       [12]         5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         30       flavonoid extractions from Flos sophorae       freeze-drying       [19]         choline chloride:ribitol       5:2       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]         10       10       freeze-drying       [10]         11       10       freeze-drying       [10]         11       10       formation and stability of NADES       vacuum evaporating       [10]		5:2 <sup>d</sup>		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
compounds 5:2 formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10] 30 flavonoid extractions from Flos freeze-drying [19] sophorae choline chloride:ribitol 5:2 formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10]	choline chloride:xylitol	4:1		stabilisation ability for phenolic	heating and stirring at 50°C	[12]
5:2     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]       30     flavonoid extractions from Flos     freeze-drying     [19]       sophorae       choline chloride:ribitol     5:2     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]				compounds		
30     flavonoid extractions from Flos sophorae     freeze-drying     [19]       choline chloride:ribitol     5:2     formation and stability of NADES     vacuum evaporating     [10]		5:2		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
sophoraecholine chloride:ribitol5:2formation and stability of NADESvacuum evaporating[10]			30	flavonoid extractions from Flos	freeze-drying	[19]
choline chloride:ribitol 5:2 formation and stability of NADES vacuum evaporating [10]				sophorae		
	choline chloride:ribitol	5:2		tormation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]

(continued on next page)

# Table 1 (continued)

Composition of NADES	Molar ratio	Dilution (% v/v)	Application	Method of preparation	Ref.
choline chloride:glycerol	1:1/1:2		measure of limiting activity coefficients values	heating and stirring at 80°C	[17]
	1:1	30	flavonoid extractions from Flos sophorae	freeze-drying	[19]
	1:2	20	extraction of astaxanthin flavonoid extraction from Radix	heating and stirred at 80°C heating and stirring at 80°C	[22] [15]
			phenolic extraction from Cajanus	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
			saponin extraction of from Ziziphus joazeiro and Agave	heating and stirring at 100°C	[23]
	1:1/3:2		sisalana formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
choline chloride:sucrose	1:1	6,4	use as polymers plasticizing agents formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating at 50°C¹ vacuum evaporating	[13] [10]
	1:2	20	phenolic extraction from Cajanus cajan leaves	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
			flavonoid extraction from Radix Scutellariae	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
	4:1	25;50;75 8.1	phenolic compounds stabilisation use as polymers plasticizing agents	heating and stirring at 50°C vacuum evaporating at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[12] [13]
		-,-	formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
choline chloride:acetic acid	1:2		saponin extraction from Ziziphus	heating and stirring at 100°C	[23]
choline chloride lactic acid	1.1		Joazeiro and Agave sisalana formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
	1:2	20	phenolic extraction from Cajanus	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
			cajan leaves saponin extraction of from Ziziphus joazeiro and Agave	heating and stirring at 100°C	[23]
	1:1/1:2/ 1:3/1:4/	20;40;60;80	sisalana flavonoid extraction from Radix Scutellariae	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
	2:1/3:1 1:2/1:5/	5;10;15;20;50	pretreatment of lignocellulosic	shaking water bath at 60°C and	[20]
	1:9	-, -, -, -,	biomass rice straw	100 rpm	1 1
choline chloride:citric acid	1:1 1:2	7,7 2020	use as polymers plasticizing agents phenolic extraction from Cajanus	vacuum evaporating at 50°C <sup>i</sup> heating and stirring at 80°C	[13] [14]
			cajan leaves flavonoids extraction from Radix	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
	1:1/2:1		Scutellariae formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
	2:1/3:1		preparation of NADES and NMR measurements	freeze-dried	[8]
choline chloride:malic acid	1:1		preparation of NADES and NMR measurements – solubility of compounds	freeze-dried	
	1:2	20	phenolic extraction from Cajanus	heating and stirring at 80°C	[14]
			flavonoid extraction from Radix	heating and stirring at 80°C	[15]
	1:1ª/1,5:1ª		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
	2.1/5.1		measurements	inceze-uncu	[0]
choline chloride:malonic acid	1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
	1:2		saponin extraction from Ziziphus	heating and stirring at 100°C	[23]
choline chloride:maleic acid	1:1/2:1 1:1/2:1/		formation and stability of NADES preparation of NADES and NMR	vacuum evaporating freeze-dried	[10] [8]
choline chloride oxalic acid	3:1		measurements saponin extraction from Zizinhus	heating and stirring at 100°C	[23]
	1.2		joazeiro and Agave sisalana		[23]
choline chloride:propionic acid	1:2		saponin extraction from Ziziphus ioazeiro and Agave sisalana	heating and stirring at 100°C	
choline chloride:L(+)tartaric acid	2:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
choline chloride:urea	1:2		synthesis of 4-thiazolidinones synthesis of aurones	heating and stirring at 100°C heating and shaking at 80°C, 150 rpm	[24] [25]
			saponin extraction from Ziziphus	heating and stirring at 100°C	[23]
choline chloride:fructose:water	1:1:1		preparation of NADES and NMR	freeze-dried	[8]
	5:2:5		measurements analysis of physicochemical	heating with agitation in a water	[11]
			properties of NADES	bath at 50°C <sup>1</sup> beating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
			Physical properties of IVADES	(continued on n	evt nage)

#### Table 1 (continued)

Composition of NADES	Molar ratio	Dilution (% v/v)	Application	Method of preparation	Ref.
choline chloride:glucose:water	1:1:1		preparation of NADES and NMR measurements	freeze-dried	[8]
	5:2:5	0-100	analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[11]
			physical properties of NADES – solubility of small molecules and macromolecules	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
choline chloride:sucrose:water	1:1:1		preparation of NADES and NMR measurements	freeze-dried	[8]
	4:1:4	0-100	analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[11]
choline chloride:lactic acid:water	1:1		physical properties of NADES analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with stirring at 50°C heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[10] [11]
choline chloride:malic acid: water	1:1:2		analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	
			physical properties of NADES	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
choline chloride:DL-malic acid:proline	1:1:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
choline chloride:glycerol:water	1:2:1		analysis of physicochemical	heating with agitation in a water	[11]
			physical properties of NADES	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
choline chloride:sorbitol:water	5:2:6		analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[11]
			physical properties of NADES	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
choline chloride:xylitol:water	2:1:3		analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[11]
			physical properties of NADES – solubility of Small molecules and Macromolecules	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
choline chloride:xylose:water	2:1:2		analysis of physicochemical properties	heating with agitation in a water bath at 50°C <sup>i</sup>	[11]
			physical properties of NADES	heating with stirring at 50°C	[10]
Others Combinations					
betaine:sucrose	2:1		formation and stability of NADES	vacuum evaporating	[10]
betaine:D(+)trehalose	4:1				
betaine:D-mannose	5:2				
betaine:sucrose:proline	1:1:1;5:2:2				
betaine:D-(+) glucose:proline	1:1:1				
D/L-proline:Sucrose	2:1/3:1				
	1;1 1bc+1/5bc+2				
prome.D(+)gucose	5 <sup>b</sup> :3	30	flavonoid extractions from Flos sophorae	freeze-drying	[19]

<sup>a</sup> DL-malic acid.

<sup>b</sup> L-proline.

<sup>c</sup> D-proline.

<sup>d</sup> D(+)-glucose.

<sup>e</sup> L(+)-tartaric.

<sup>f</sup> D(–)fructose. <sup>g</sup> D-xylose.

h D-sorbitol

<sup>i</sup> Mixed with certain amount of water.

In addition to the features as solvents, the stabilization ability is important for their further applications. Studies have demonstrated that natural pigments from safflower were more stable in sugar-based NADES than in water or 40% ethanol solution [11]. In NADES, an enhanced solubility of the flavonoids rutin, which is only slightly soluble in water, was observed. The solubility was 50- to 100-fold higher in glucose:fructose or aconitic acid:choline choride mixtures than in water [8]. Notably, the stabilization capacity of NADES can be adjusted by reducing water content with increasing viscosity. The formation of hydrogen bonding interactions between compounds, as happens with phenolic compounds and NADES provides a strong ability to stabilize molecules [11].

Selected studies concerning the use of NADESs to extract compounds from natural sources by different methods are shown in Table 2. NADES have been mainly applied for the extraction of phenolic compounds. Pigments, carotenoides and flavonoids of different polarity have

been studied. The data obtained show that NADES increase the efficiency of existing extraction solvents [5,12,14,15,19,22], being choline chloride and acids the major choice for their preparation. Their potential for the extraction could be ascribable to their great capacity to form hydrogen bonds with the analytes. Considering the drawbacks of traditional methodologies, mainly due to the extensive use of organic solvents, NADES are a green option in this area. An additional advantage is the possibility to produce tailor-made solvents compatible with the chemical nature of the analytes under study. Physical properties of NADES, such as polarity, viscosity and temperature have a great influence in the extraction. The optimization of all the parameters by multivariate analysis, and also the extraction parameters, is a powerful tool to obtain the suitable results [14,15]. Moreover it has been reported for the extraction of this compounds the use of NADES in combination with other green techniques as ultrasound-assisted method [22] and microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) [14,15].

Table 2NADESs as extraction solvents

Class	Compounds	Sample	NADES	Method of extraction	Ref
Phenolic compounds	-Hydroxysafflor yellow A -Cartormin -Carthamin -Tri-p-coumaroyl Spermidines -Ouercetin glycosides	Carthamus tinctorius L.	sucrose:choline chloride:water fructose:glucose:sucrose:water proline:malic acid:water glucose:choline chloride:water lactic acid:glucose:water sorbitol:choline chloride:water	-0.1 g of plant material in 1.5 mL NADES -mechanical agitation, 40°C, 60 min -centrifugation: 10,968× g, 20 min -filtration: 0.45 μm cellulose acetate filter -water dilution -HPLC-DAD analysis	[27]
	Total phenolic compounds	Green coffee beans	choline choride:xylose 3:1 choline choride:tartaric acid 1:1 choline choride:citric acid 1:1	-0.1 g of plant material in 1.5 mL NADES -mechanical agitation, 40°C, 60 min -centrifugation: 10,968× g, 20 min -filtration: 0.45 µm cellulose acetate filter -water dilution -HPLC-DAD analysis	[5]
	Flavonoids: -baicalin -wogonoside -baicalein -wogonin	Radix Scutellariae	choline chloride:glycerol 1:2 choline chloride:citric acid 1:2 choline chloride:malic acid 1:2 choline chloride:lactic acid 1:2 3:1, 2:1, 1:1, 1:3, 1:4 choline chloride:glucose 1:2 choline chloride:sorbitol 1:2 choline chloride:sucrose 1:2 choline chloride:maltose 1:2 citric acid: sucrose 1:2 citric acid:glucose 1:2 lactic acid:sucrose 1:2, 2:4	-2.00 g of plant material in 30 mL NADES -microwave-assisted extraction (MAE), 10 min, 55°C, radiation power 500 W -filtration: 0.45 μm nylon membrane -HPLC analysis	[15]
	Flavonoids: -quercetin -kaempferol -isorhamnetin	Flos sophorae	choline chloride:glycerol 1:1 choline chloride:xylitol 5:2 choline chloride:D-(+)-glucose 1:1 L-proline:D-(+)-glucose 5:3 citric acid:D-(+)-glucose 1:1 citric acid:adonitol 1:1 betaine:DL-malic acid 1:1	-0.05 mg of plant material in 0.75 mL of NADES -mechanical agitation in vortex -ultrasound-assisted extraction (UAE): ambient temperature, 20 min -centrifugation:12,300 g, 30 min -acid hydrolysis:150 μL of the extract mixed with 500 μL of 4 M hydrochloric acid in methanol, 90°C , 60 min. -LC-UV analysis	[19]
	-orientin -vitexin -luteolin -apigenin -isorhamnetin -formononetin -pinostrobin chalcone -pinostrobin -longistyline C -cajaninstilbene acid -cajanuslactone -cajanol -apigenin-6,8-Di-C-α-L-arabinoside -apigenin-8-C-α-L-arabinoside	Cajanus cajan leaves	choline chloride:glycerol, choline chloride:glucose, choline chloride:sucrose choline chloride:maltose choline chloride:citric acid, choline chloride:citric acid, choline chloride:malic acid choline chloride:lactic acid citric acid:glucose, citric acid:glucose lactic acid:glucose lactic acid:sucrose	-2.00 g of plant material in 60 mL NADES -microwave-assisted extraction (MAE), 12 min, 60°C. -filtration -HPLC analysis	[14]
Saponins		Dried Sisal waste and Juá bark	cholinium chloride:glycerol cholinium chloride:urea cholinium chloride:acetic acid cholinium chloride:propionic acid cholinium chloride:lactic acid cholinium chloride:malonic acid	-material/solvent ratio: 1/20 for juá bark and 1/10 for sisal -stirring 2500 rpm using a vortex, 0.5 min -stirring 120 rpm, 90 min, 50°C	[23]
Carotenoids	astaxanthin	Shrimp byproducts	cholinium chloride:glycerol 1:2	-100 mg of shrimp shell powder in 1 mL of NADES -ultrasound-assisted extraction (UAE): at a frequency of 20 kHz and an output power of 200 W max -200 μL of the extract were mixed with an equal volume of the mobile phase -centrifugation -filtration: 0.2 μm -HDIC analysis	[22]
Lignin		Rice straw	lactic acid:betaine lactic acid:choline chloride (5, 10, 15, 20, and 50% of distilled wáter)	<ul> <li>-10-20 g of dried residue in 200 mL of NADES</li> <li>-incubation at 60°C for 12 h with constant agitation at 100 rpm</li> <li>-centrifugation at 5000 rpm for 30 min at room temperature for separated NADES-treated solid biomass residue from the soluble lignin extract fraction</li> <li>-precipitation of soluble lignin from NADES extract by simple dilution method using distilled water at 4°C for 2–3 h.</li> <li>-centrifugation at 10,000× g for 10 min separation of precipitated lignin from NADES solution</li> <li>-washing of pellet two times with distilled water</li> <li>-drying to obtain powdered lignin.</li> </ul>	[20]

#### 4.1.2. Green organic reaction media

Many analytical procedures include a chemical reaction in order to enhance detection, modify polarity or avoid interferences. Moreover, on-line reactions are crucial in integrated approaches in Flow Injection Analysis (FIA) or microfluidic devices.

Organic reactions in green media have attracted considerable attention in recent years. NADES's application in organic synthesis has notable advantages. They can be used not only as a reaction media but also as a catalyst. A rapid procedure for green synthesis of 4-thiazolidinones was performed in choline chloride:urea. The general synthetic strategy employed is based on one-pot reaction of thiourea, chloroacetyl chloride and aromatic aldehydes [24]. Another application of this mixture was used in the synthesis of aurones through a simple and fast procedure [25]. It was also used for the bromination of 1-aminoanthra-9,10-quinone. The solvent was easily separated and reused without loss of activity [30]. The same NADES was reported for the synthesis of cinnamic acid and its derivatives via Perkin reaction. This process is efficient under mild conditions [31]. In other research the mixture carbohydrate:urea showed very good solvent properties compared to L-carnitine:urea mixture. It was successfully used for chemical transformations such as Diels-Alder reactions, Stille and Suzuki cross-couplings and for hydrogenation reactions [32]. Solvents are of essential significance in all synthetic processes. It is worth mentioning that the main role of these solvents is to homogenize all the reagents in the reaction media. Organic and non-organic solvents have been widely used, they are chosen depending on the reaction peculiarities and how the solvent may deal with them [27]. In this sense NADES are currently attracting significant attention as "greener" media for material synthesis and processing [17]. It has been demonstrated the possibility to use them as polymers plasticizing agents for the development of 3D porous architectures that have applications in a wide variety of scientific fields, particularly in analytical chemistry [13]. Other interesting promising area is nanotechnology, in particular nanoparticle synthesis. Recently, NADES have been the solvent of choice for the convenient synthesis of nanoparticles due to thermal stability, good dispersibility, large ionic conductivity and wide electrochemical window [27]. After synthesis, these materials are widely applied in the different steps of Analytical process like extraction, separation, and detection enhancement.

NADES are excellent solvents for many substrates, providing a promising bio-based and effective media for reactions [32]. In this respect, they have been efficiently used as an efficient media of reaction of enzymes such as hydrolases and lipases [33]. Taken together, the biocompatibility as well as the sustainability of a natural deep eutectic solvent makes it a good substitute for the aqueous media in studying biomolecules and they can be successfully applied to the fabrication of biosensors.

### 4.2. Detection

The excellent properties of NADESs, such as sustainability, ease of preparation, low cost, biodegradability, pharmaceutical acceptable toxicity and high extractability, highlight their potential as green solvents for their use at different steps of any analytical method. Nevertheless, is it possible to enhance detection when target analytes are part of the NADES supramolecular structure? Taking into consideration these solvents are like liquid crystals in which the solute molecules are fixed in the crystals, it is feasible to expect a detection improvement by means of a phenomenon similar to the micellar-enhanced spectrometry detection generated by surfactants [33,34].

There is scarce information concerning the study of detection enhancement provided by NADES. Karimi et al. [35] reported lower limits of detection in the presence of NADES with same detector (Electrothermal Atomic Absorption Spectrometry) and similar pretreatment technique (Dispersive Liquid-Microextracion). The enhancement factors, defined as the ratio of the slope of the calibration curves with and without preconcentration, were better in the presence of NADES for lead and cadmium.

Indeed, they Zhang et al. reported the application of NADES in an ultrasonic-assisted extraction prior to Liquid Chromatography for the analysis of astaxanthin from shrimp byproducts [22]. The amount of astaxanthin extracted using a traditional organic solvent was 50% lower than that obtained for the NADES-mediated extraction.

#### 4.2.1. Electrochemical applications

In recent years, ILs have been broadly used in the electrochemical analysis due to its unique electrochemical properties, including higher ionic conductivity, wider electrochemical windows, low cost and environment-friendly [36]. ILs modified electrodes have a good prospect in electrochemical analysis. However, its preparation involves a complex procedure and the electrode modification is expensive, tedious and time consuming, which restricts its application in practical work. In recent times, DES have also been applied successfully in this field [6,37]. The physical-chemical properties of DES are similar to those of the ionic liquids [29,38]. Due to this, most of the reported applications of DES have been essentially in electrochemistry. Despite the large number of publications in electrochemistry with DES, no publications can be found with the keyword NADES. Taking in account that the term NADES has recently been proposed (2011), it has not been fully implemented yet. Therefore, some of the electrochemical applications reported as DESbased could be considered as NADES. Fig. 3 are shown NADES applications in electrochemistry.

Cyclic voltammetry and chronoamperometry measurements, reported in 2007, for choline chloride-based have broadened the application spectra of these class of solvents [39]. One particular application within this field of research is electrodeposition of metals (the major application field, Fig. 3), which may benefit from the high solubility of metal salts in nonaqueous solutions and the high conductivity of ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents [5,40]. In fact, choline chloride based NADES have been successfully assessed for electrodeposition of different metals (Cr, Mn, Cu, Ag, etc.) [41,42], alloys (Zn/Cr, Zn/Sn, etc.) [43,44], in electrowinning of metals from complex oxide matrices [38,45,46] and enhancing electrochemical properties [37].

# 5. Conclusions and future perspectives

In the last decades, the concept "green" acquired a new significance in chemistry. The definition of sustainable development and green chemistry changed the way of thinking processes and methods. A critical issue is to look for an alternative to traditional solvents due to their low biodegradability, high toxicity and cost. After years of intense research, trying different mixtures with diverse compounds, a spark of light emerged from nature: in 2011 Choi coined the term Natural Deep Eutectic Solvents for this mixtures.

NADES have a large number of the advantages such as those already discussed in this review. Also as already specified, the preparation is simple, environmental friendly and low cost. Studies of 1H NMR spectra, FT-IR, crystallographic date and FAB-MS have demonstrated that NADES are supermolecules with hydrogen-bonding interactions between the components. Neverthless, there is still a lack of information about their structure, interactions between their components and with the target analytes.

The huge potential of NADES opens interesting perspectives for further research and industrial applications. Currently, the use of



Fig. 3. NADES applications in electrochemistry (A) and the most common HBD (B) and HBA (C).

NADES as extraction solvents for phenolic compounds is the most studied application by far. Therefore, considering their stabilization skills and their extraction talents, a very promising field for research in the next years is the extraction of biocompounds such as alkaloids, hormones and peptides.

Although recently analytical applications of NADES have appeared in literature, the full potential of these green solvents is still unexplored. There are no reports about the application of these solvents in separation processes. Concerning the toxicity, low biodegradability, high cost of the organic reagents commonly used in this step, efforts should be made in evaluating this new smart solvents. Considering their possibility of being tailored-made, there is great potential to modify the interaction between stationary phase and target analytes as it has been previous reported for ILs. Moreover, NADES could be used modifiers for the background electrolyte in Capillary Electrophoresis (CE) and may improve relevant parameters (acid-base dissociation behavior pH, separation efficiency, resolution, and electroosmotic flow).

The challenge of Analytical Chemistry is to develop techniques and methods aligned with Green Chemistry. In this sense NADES represents an excellent opportunity as a new generation of green solvents. They could be a great contribution to develop sustainable industrial process.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by funding from the University of Cuyo, and Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET).

# References

- [1] I. Lavilla, V. Romero, I. Costas, C. Bendicho, Greener derivatization in analytical chemistry, Trends Analyt. Chem. 61 (2014) 1–10.
- [2] F. Pena-Pereira, A. Kloskowski, J. Namieśnik, Perspectives on the replacement of harmful organic solvents in analytical methodologies: a framework toward the implementation of a generation of eco-friendly alternatives, Green Chem. 17 (2015) 3687–3705.
- [3] M. Cvjetko Bubalo, S. Vidović, I. Radojčić Redovniković, S. Jokić, Green solvents for green technologies, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 90 (2015) 1631–1639.
- [4] S. Armenta, S. Garrigues, M. de la Guardia, The role of green extraction techniques in Green Analytical Chemistry, Trends Analyt. Chem. 71 (2015) 2–8, doi:10.1016/j.trac.2014.12.011.
- [5] A. Paiva, R. Craveiro, I. Aroso, M. Martins, R.L. Reis, A.R.C. Duarte, Natural deep eutectic solvents – solvents for the 21st century, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2 (2014) 1063–1071.
- [6] A.P. Abbott, G. Capper, D.L. Davies, R.K. Rasheed, V. Tambyrajah, Novel solvent properties of choline chloride/urea mixtures, Chem. Commun. 9 (2003) 70–71.
- [7] M. Francisco, A. Van Den Bruinhorst, M.C. Kroon, Low-transition-temperature mixtures (LITMs): a new generation of designer solvents, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl. 52 (2013) 3074–3085.

- [8] Y.H. Choi, J. van Spronsen, Y. Dai, M. Verberne, F. Hollmann, I.W.C.E. Arends, et al., Are natural deep eutectic solvents the missing link in understanding cellular metabolism and physiology?, Plant Physiol. 156 (2011) 1701–1705.
- [9] G. García, S. Aparicio, R. Ullah, M. Atilhan, Deep eutectic solvents: physicochemical properties and gas separation applications, Energy Fuels 29 (2015) 2616–2644.
- [10] Y. Dai, J. van Spronsen, G.J. Witkamp, R. Verpoorte, Y.H. Choi, Natural deep eutectic solvents as new potential media for green technology, Anal. Chim. Acta 766 (2013) 61–68.
- [11] Y. Dai, G.J. Witkamp, R. Verpoorte, Y.H. Choi, Tailoring properties of natural deep eutectic solvents with water to facilitate their applications, Food Chem. 187 (2015) 14–19.
- [12] Y. Dai, R. Verpoorte, Y.H. Choi, Natural deep eutectic solvents providing enhanced stability of natural colorants from safflower (Carthamus tinctorius), Food Chem. 159 (2014) 116–121.
- [13] M. Martins, I.M. Aroso, R.L. Reis, A.R.C. Duarte, R. Craveiro, A. Paiva, Enhanced performance of supercritical fluid foaming of natural-based polymers by deep eutectic solvents, AIChE J. 60 (2014) 3701–3706.
- [14] Z. Wei, X. Qi, T. Li, M. Luo, W. Wang, Y. Zu, et al., Application of natural deep eutectic solvents for extraction and determination of phenolics in Cajanus cajan leaves by ultra performance liquid chromatography, Sep. Purif. Technol. 149 (2015) 237–244.
- [15] Z.F. Wei, X.Q. Wang, X. Peng, W. Wang, C.J. Zhao, Y.G. Zu, et al., Fast and green extraction and separation of main bioactive flavonoids from Radix Scutellariae, Ind. Crops Prod. 63 (2015) 175–181.
- [16] M.C. Gutiérrez, M.L. Ferrer, C.R. Mateo, F.D. Monte, Freeze-drying of aqueous solutions of deep eutectic solvents: a suitable approach to deep eutectic suspensions of self-assembled structures, Langmuir 25 (2009) 5509–5515.
- [17] S.P. Verevkin, A.Y. Sazonova, A.K. Frolkova, D.H. Zaitsau, I.V. Prikhodko, C. Held, Separation performance of BioRenewable deep eutectic solvents, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 54 (2015) 3498–3504.
- [18] D. Rengstl, V. Fischer, W. Kunz, Low-melting mixtures based on choline ionic liquids, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 16 (2014) 22815–22822.
- [19] M.W. Nam, J. Zhao, M.S. Lee, J.H. Jeong, J. Lee, Enhanced extraction of bioactive natural products using tailor-made deep eutectic solvents: application to flavonoid extraction from Flos sophorae, Green Chem. 17 (2015) 1718– 1727.
- [20] A.K. Kumar, B.S. Parikh, M. Pravakar, Natural deep eutectic solvent mediated pretreatment of rice straw: bioanalytical characterization of lignin extract and enzymatic hydrolysis of pretreated biomass residue, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. (2015) doi:10.1007/s11356-015-4780-4.
- [21] F. Cardellini, M. Tiecco, R. Germani, G. Cardinali, L. Corte, L. Roscini, et al., Novel zwitterionic deep eutectic solvents from trimethylglycine and carboxylic acids: characterization of their properties and their toxicity, RSC Adv. 4 (2014) 55990–56002.
- [22] H. Zhang, B. Tang, K.H. Row, A green deep eutectic solvent-based ultrasoundassisted method to extract astaxanthin from shrimp byproducts, Anal. Lett. 47 (2014) 742–749.
- [23] B.D. Ribeiro, M.A.Z. Coelho, I.M. Marrucho, Extraction of saponins from sisal (Agave sisalana) and juá (Ziziphus joazeiro) with cholinium-based ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents, Eur. Food Res. Technol. 237 (2013) 965– 975.
- [24] A. Mobinikhaledi, A.K. Amiri, Natural eutectic salts catalyzed one-pot synthesis of 5-arylidene-2-imino-4-thiazolidinones, Res. Chem. Intermed. 39 (2013) 1491–1498.
- [25] I. Hawkins, S.T. Handy, Synthesis of aurones under neutral conditions using a deep eutectic solvent, Tetrahedron 69 (2013) 9200–9204.
- [26] M. Valcárcel, Analytical chemistry today and tomorrow, in: I.S. Krull (Editor), Analytical Chemistry, InTech, USA, 2012, pp. 93–114.

- [27] Y. Dai, G.J. Witkamp, R. Verpoorte, Y.H. Choi, Natural deep eutectic solvents as a new extraction media for phenolic metabolites in carthamus tinctorius L, Anal. Chem. 85 (2013) 6272–6278.
- [28] M. Hayyan, M.A. Hashim, A. Hayyan, M.A. Al-Saadi, I.M. AlNashef, M.E.S. Mirghani, et al., Are deep eutectic solvents benign or toxic?, Chemosphere 90 (2013) 2193–2195.
- [29] A.P. Abbott, D. Boothby, G. Capper, D.L. Davies, R.K. Rasheed, Deep Eutectic Solvents formed between choline chloride and carboxylic acids: versatile alternatives to ionic liquids, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 9142–9147.
- [30] S.B. Phadtare, G.S. Shankarling, Halogenation reactions in biodegradable solvent: efficient bromination of substituted 1-aminoanthra-9,10-quinone in deep eutectic solvent (choline chloride:urea), Green Chem. 12 (2010) 458–462.
- [31] P.M. Pawar, K.J. Jarag, G.S. Shankarling, Environmentally benign and energy efficient methodology for condensation: an interesting facet to the classical Perkin reaction, Green Chem. 13 (2011) 2130–2134.
- [32] F. Ilgen, B. König, Organic reactions in low melting mixtures based on carbohydrates and l-carnitine – a comparison, Green Chem. 11 (2009) 848–854.
- [33] M.F. Silva, E.S. Cerutti, L.D. Martinez, Coupling cloud point extraction to instrumental detection systems for metal analysis, Microchim. Acta 155 (2006) 349–364.
- [34] A.M.I. Mohamed, M.A. Omar, M.A. Hammad, A.A. Mohamed, Spectrofluorimetric and micelle-enhanced spectrofluorimetric methods for determination of Felodipine and Nimodipine in pharmaceutical preparations and human plasma, Spectrochim. Acta [A.] 149 (2015) 934–940.
- [35] M. Karimi, S. Dadfarnia, A.M.H. Shabani, F. Tamaddon, D. Azadi, Deep eutectic liquid organic salt as a new solvent for liquid-phase microextraction and its application in ligandless extraction and preconcentraion of lead and cadmium in edible oils, Talanta 144 (2015) 648–654.
- [36] J.F. Zhong, D.L. He, Z. Zhou, Y.B. Xu, Electrochemical oxidation behavior of hydroxypivalaldehyde in the ionic liquids, Chin. Chem. Lett. 19 (2008) 319–323.
- [37] Y. Zheng, L. Ye, L. Yan, Y. Gao, The electrochemical behavior and determination of quercetin in choline chloride/urea deep eutectic solvent electrolyte based on abrasively immobilized multi-wall carbon nanotubes modified electrode, Int. J. Electrochem. Sci. 9 (2014) 238–248.
- [38] M. Figueiredo, C. Gomes, R. Costa, A. Martins, C.M. Pereira, F. Silva, Differential capacity of a deep eutectic solvent based on choline chloride and glycerol on solid electrodes, Electrochim. Acta 54 (2009) 2630–2634.
- [39] C.A. Nkuku, R.J. LeSuer, Electrochemistry in deep eutectic solvents, J. Phys. Chem. B 111 (2007) 13271–13277.
- [40] K. Haerens, E. Matthijs, A. Chmielarz, B. Van der Bruggen, The use of ionic liquids based on choline chloride for metal deposition: a green alternative?, J. Environ. Manage. 90 (2009) 3245–3252.
- [41] A.P. Abbott, G. Capper, D.L. Davies, R.K. Rasheed, Ionic liquid analogues formed from hydrated metal salts, Chem. Eur. J. 10 (2004) 3769–3774.
- [42] A. Bakkar, V. Neubert, Electrodeposition onto magnesium in air and water stable ionic liquids: from corrosion to successful plating, Electrochem. Commun. 9 (2007) 2428–2435.
- [43] A.P. Abbott, G. Capper, K.J. McKenzie, K.S. Ryder, Electrodeposition of zinc-tin alloys from deep eutectic solvents based on choline chloride, J. Electroanal. Chem. 599 (2007) 288–294.
- [44] P.J. Dale, A.P. Samantilleke, D.D. Shivagan, L.M. Peter, Synthesis of cadmium and zinc semiconductor compounds from an ionic liquid containing choline chloride and urea, Thin Solid Films 515 (2007) 5751–5754.
- [45] A.P. Abbott, G. Capper, D.L. Davies, R.K. Rasheed, P. Shikotra, Selective extraction of metals from mixed oxide matrixes using choline-based ionic liquids, Inorg. Chem. 44 (2005) 6497–6499.
- [46] A.P. Abbott, G. Capper, D.L. Davies, K.J. McKenzie, S.U. Obi, Solubility of metal oxides in deep eutectic solvents based on choline chloride, J. Chem. Eng. Data 51 (2006) 1280–1282.